
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

CRIMINAL NO. 11-141 (RHK/JJK) 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )  
      ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) TRIAL BRIEF OF THE 
      ) UNITED STATES  
  V.    )   
      )  
1) FRANK ELROY VENNES, JR., and   )  
4) JAMES NATHAN FRY,    )  
      ) 
   Defendants.     ) 
 
 The United States of America, by and through its attorneys, B. Todd Jones, United 

States Attorney for the District of Minnesota, and Assistant United States Attorneys 

Timothy C. Rank, Kimberly A. Svendsen and Robert M. Lewis, respectfully submits its 

trial brief in the above-captioned case.  Included in this memorandum is a summary of the 

facts the government expects the evidence will establish at trial, as well as briefing 

regarding possible evidentiary matters that may arise during trial. 

I. OVERVIEW OF THE CASE   

 For almost 15 years, defendant Frank Elroy Vennes, Jr. was the primary source of 

funds for Thomas Joseph Petters and his company, Petters Company, Inc. (“PCI”).  

Vennes obtained money directly from individual investors to provide to Petters, from 

which he made more than $100 million dollars in interest.  Vennes also brought in others 

to form hedge funds to gather money from large numbers of investors to provide to PCI.  

These included the Palm Beach Funds, which were run by Bruce Prevost and David 
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Harrold, who have pleaded guilty to committing securities fraud, aided and abetted by 

Vennes, and the Arrowhead Funds, which were run by defendant James Fry.  Petters paid 

Vennes a commission based on the amount of money Vennes brought in through the 

Palm Beach Funds and the Arrowhead Funds.  The commissions totaled more than $100 

million, including $60 million related to the Palm Beach Funds and $48 million related to 

the Arrowhead Funds. 

Vennes began raising money to invest with Petters in 1995, only a few years after 

he was released from federal prison, where he had been serving a sentence for money 

laundering, firearms and narcotics charges.  Most of the money he raised in the first years 

came from individuals he met through a prison ministry program.  Vennes borrowed 

money from these people, which he in turn lent to Petters, purportedly to finance Petters’s 

acquisition of consumer goods at a discount that he was then able to resell at a profit.  

Petters paid Vennes very high interest rates, and Vennes was able to bring in more and 

more investors and make more and more money for himself.  

 Soon, his ability to raise funds from individual investors plateaued, while Petters’s 

need for money continued to expand.  Because Vennes wanted access to the high interest 

rates Petters was paying on larger blocks of money, in late 1996 he began to try to seek 

out financing from banks and other institutional lenders to invest with Petters.  Vennes’s 

efforts were unsuccessful, and he attributed his inability to obtain institutional financing 

to his criminal record.   
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 In 1998, Vennes met Fry, who owned and managed an investment firm, 

Arrowhead Capital Management, which had hedge funds invested primarily in medical 

device companies.  Fry loaned money from these hedge funds to Vennes, who paid Fry a 

high interest rate on the loans and who then lent the money to Petters at an even higher 

interest rate.  Eventually, Fry formed two hedge funds, soliciting money from investors to 

invest exclusively in financing for PCI.  All of the Arrowhead Funds’ transactions with 

PCI were done through Vennes, and indeed any communication between Fry and Petters 

or his company had to go through Vennes.   Nevertheless, Fry concealed Vennes’s 

involvement in the PCI transactions because he knew that investors would learn about 

Vennes’s criminal background and be deterred from investing.  Over approximately eight 

years, Fry obtained hundreds of millions of dollars from investors which he provided to 

PCI, purportedly to finance the purchase of consumer electronics which Petters would 

later resell at a profit.  Fry lied to his investors about the transactions underlying the PCI 

investments, and he made tens of millions of dollars in fees.  Vennes knew that Fry was 

lying to his investors and yet he continued to profit significantly from his role in the 

transactions, himself making tens of millions of dollars in fees from Petters for the money 

Fry brought to PCI. 

 Over time, the relationship between Vennes and Fry soured, although they 

continued to do business with each other in connection with the PCI financing 

transactions because they both made substantial fees.  Vennes, however, also recruited 

two others, Bruce Prevost and David Harrold, to form a hedge fund to provide financing 
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to PCI.  In 2002, Prevost and Harrold formed the Palm Beach Funds. As with Fry’s 

investment with PCI, all of the Palm Beach deals were done through Vennes and any 

communication Prevost and Harrold had with Petters or his company had to go through 

Vennes.   Over approximately six years, Prevost and Harrold obtained more than a billion 

dollars from investors which they provided to PCI, purportedly to finance the purchase of 

consumer electronics which Petters would later resell at a profit.  Based on information 

provided to them by Vennes, Prevost and Harrold lied to their investors about the 

transactions underlying the PCI investments, falsely telling investors that the Palm Beach 

Funds were receiving payments directly from the big box retailers to which PCI was 

purportedly selling the consumer electronics.  Throughout the life of the Palm Beach 

Funds, Vennes knew that Prevost and Harrold continued to lie to their investors and yet 

he continued to profit significantly from his role in the transactions, himself making tens 

of millions of dollars in fees from Petters for the money Prevost and Harrold brought to 

PCI.  

 Vennes also obtained money from investors in his own company, Metro Gem, for 

investment in PCI, purportedly to fund the purchase of consumer goods for resale by PCI.  

Vennes concealed material information about the PCI investment from his investors, and 

in particular failed to advise his investors that PCI was in default on its investments with 

Metro Gem beginning in the fall of 2007.  Vennes also lied to a bank about his PCI 

investment in order to obtain a multi-million dollar line of credit.    
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 Fry also lied to federal authorities after the collapse of the Petters Ponzi scheme.  

In 2010, Fry gave sworn testimony before the Securities and Exchange Commission, and 

during that testimony he claimed that he was unaware that the Arrowhead Funds were not 

paid directly from the retailers and that marketing materials containing false information 

were sent out without his knowledge or authorization. 

Significantly, the charges in the Indictment do not require the government to prove 

that the defendants were aware of the full extent of the Petters Ponzi scheme – that is, the 

government is not alleging that either defendant was aware that the transactions between 

the PCI and the big box retailers were wholly fictitious.   Instead, the government alleges 

that the defendants lied to investors about significant aspects of the way the financing 

transactions with PCI operated.  The defendants’ lies prevented investors from accurately 

assessing the safety and soundness of their investment and contributed to Petters’s Ponzi 

scheme becoming a multi-billion dollar fraud.    

The defendants lied to investors by telling them that the Arrowhead and Palm 

Beach Funds were getting paid directly by the big box retailers, which gave investors the 

false impression that there were real transactions underlying the PCI investments.  In fact, 

the Funds never received a single payment from a retailer and payments on the PCI 

promissory notes came from PCI, which allowed the Petters Ponzi scheme to expand for 

years until it finally collapsed.   The defendants also concealed from investors Vennes’s 

role in the transactions, knowing that Vennes’s criminal history – which included 

convictions for money laundering, firearms and narcotics offenses – would make it 
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harder to lure institutional investors to the Funds.  Finally, the defendants lied to investors 

about significant problems with the PCI investments in 2007 and 2008, and these lies 

were significant to new investors deciding whether to place money with the Funds and to 

existing investors in assessing whether to withdraw from the Funds. 

Harrold and Prevost have pleaded guilty to misrepresentations and omissions to 

Palm Beach Fund investors, aided and abetted by Vennes, regarding the way the Petters 

investment transactions worked (the “Flow of Funds” misrepresentations, Second 

Superseding Indictment (“SSI”) ¶¶ 31-34) and regarding substantial problems with 

payments on the PCI investment in 2007 and 2008 (the “PCI Note Payment 

Performance” misrepresentations, SSI ¶¶ 42-48).  Similarly, Fry and Vennes are charged 

with aiding and abetting substantially similar misrepresentations and omissions to 

Arrowhead Fund investors, regarding both the PCI “Flow of Funds” (SSI ¶¶ 28-30) and 

the “PCI Note Payment Performance” (SSI ¶¶ 37-41), in addition to concealing from 

investors of Vennes’s role in the Arrowhead Funds’ investments with PCI in order to 

conceal his criminal record from investors (SSI ¶¶ 35-36).   

 Vennes is also charged with substantially similar misrepresentations and 

omissions to investors and potential investors, both individuals and financial institutions, 

from whom he obtained money through his company, Metro Gem, concerning substantial 

problems with PCI investment performance in 2008.  (SSI ¶¶ 49-54.)   
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 Finally, Fry is alleged to have lied during sworn testimony before the Securities 

and Exchange Commission on October 25 and 26, and November 5, 2010.   (SSI ¶¶ 87-

91.)   

 Vennes is charged with eight counts of aiding and abetting securities fraud, in 

violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a) and 77x; seven counts of aiding and abetting wire fraud, 

in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343; three counts of aiding and abetting mail fraud, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341; three counts of bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

1344; two counts of making false statements on a credit application, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1014; and three counts of money laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957. 

 Fry is charged with five counts of aiding and abetting securities fraud, in violation 

of 15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a) and 77x; four counts of aiding and abetting wire fraud, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343; and three counts of making false statements to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

II. SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL1 

A. Vennes’s Early Years 

 In the mid-1980s, Frank Vennes operated three pawnshops in Bismarck, Williston 

and Dickinson, North Dakota.  In 1986, the IRS was investigating money laundering in 

North Dakota and an undercover IRS agent, posing as an investor from Chicago, asked 

Vennes to secretly transfer large amounts of cash into offshore accounts.  Vennes 

                                                      
1 Most of Sections II(A) through (H) also are incorporated into the factual background of the 
Government’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motions to Exclude Evidence of Defendant 
Frank Vennes’s Criminal Record.   These sections are included in the Trial Brief in order to provide the 
Court with a single, comprehensive factual summary of the government’s case-in-chief. 
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understood that the cash was proceeds of illegal activities in the United States, and he 

further understood that what he was being asked to do was illegal.  (Transcript of August 

10, 1987 Change of Plea, United States v. Vennes, C3-87-23 (D.N.D.) at 32-33.)   

Vennes agreed to courier the cash in exchange for a commission of 6% of whatever 

amounts he transferred out of the United States.   

Over the next several months, he and his codefendants received $370,000 from the 

undercover agent and transferred it, minus their substantial commissions, to accounts in 

the Bahamas, the Isle of Man, and Switzerland, without complying with federal currency 

transaction reporting laws.   In October 1986, Vennes flew from Minneapolis to London, 

England with $100,000 in cash concealed on his person.  Pursuant to instructions from 

the undercover agent, Vennes deposited the money in an account on the Isle of Man.  A 

few weeks later, Vennes flew from Minneapolis to Geneva, Switzerland with $100,000 in 

cash concealed on his person, with instructions from the undercover agent to deposit the 

funds in a Swiss bank account.   

When Vennes returned from Switzerland, he told the undercover agent that he had 

not deposited the money in a Swiss bank account as he had been instructed.  Instead, 

Vennes claimed that he had delivered the $100,000 to associates in Switzerland, who had 

absconded with the money.  The undercover agent sought to have Vennes recoup the 

“lost” money by arranging for illegal gun sales and the purchase of cocaine.     

In May 1987, Vennes was charged with various money laundering, firearms and 

narcotics offenses.  In August 1987, Vennes pleaded guilty to one count of money 
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laundering and pleaded no contest to one count of illegal firearms sales, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 922(b)(3), and one count of using a telephone to facilitate distribution of 

cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 843(b). 

On September 11, 1987, Vennes was sentenced to three years in prison on the 

money laundering count, with consecutive sentences of one year each for the firearms 

and narcotics counts, for a total of five years imprisonment. 

Vennes served most of his sentence at FCI Sandstone.  While in prison, Vennes 

participated in a program run by Charis, a prison ministry outreach group.  Members of 

Charis were volunteers who came into the prison to worship with and give counsel to 

prisoners who participated in the program.  Vennes developed close relationships with 

several members while he was incarcerated.   

After his release from prison in 1990, he moved to the Twin Cities area.  He 

maintained connections with people he met through Charis, and in fact was given a job 

by a Charis member who owned a metal fabrication company in Bloomington.  Vennes 

also began borrowing money from this individual as well as from others he met through 

the Christian community associated with Charis.  Vennes used the money to buy goods – 

including gold coins and expensive watches – which he then resold at a profit.   

In or around 1995, Vennes met Tom Petters.  Shortly after they met, Petters 

offered to pay Vennes a substantial interest rate if he could secure money to loan to 

Petters, purportedly to fund the purchase of consumer goods that Petters was going to 

resell at a profit.  Vennes did not have the money himself, so he asked his boss, the man 
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who had given him a job upon his release from prison, for money to loan to Petters.  

Vennes’s boss agreed to lend Vennes $100,000, and Vennes, in turn, lent the money to 

Petters.  Petters gave Vennes a promissory note in which he promised to repay Vennes in 

20 days, along with $10,000 in interest (an annualized interest rate of more than 180%).  

Over the next several months, Vennes borrowed additional funds from his boss, which he 

gave to Petters in exchange for promissory notes in which Petters agreed to pay similarly 

high interest rates.  Vennes took a cut of the interest on each transaction for himself.  

Vennes also began borrowing money from others associated with Charis or related 

Christian organizations, which, in turn, he used to lend Petters progressively larger 

amounts.  Indeed, by the end of 1995, Vennes (who did not have even $100,000 to lend 

Petters in May of 1995) was able to obtain more than $1.1 million to lend Petters in a 

single financing transaction.  Vennes kept a portion of the interest paid by Petters on each 

transaction.  Starting at the end of 1995, Vennes began issuing the promissory notes to 

the people from whom he borrowed money in the name of his newly formed company, 

Metro Gem, Inc.  Over the next couple of years, the amounts of money Vennes was 

obtaining from others to lend to Petters continued at an ever-increasing rate.  The source 

of this money remained largely the same, as Vennes continued to obtain loans from those 

in Charis or related Christian organizations.  By late 1996, however, this source of funds 

was insufficient to satisfy Petters’s need for cash and Vennes’s desire for additional 

profits from the substantial interest rate he was charging Petters.   
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B. Vennes’s first attempts to obtain institutional financing 

Toward the end of 1996, Vennes began to seek out larger sources of funds through 

institutional lenders.  Vennes approached Ray Wollum, who ran a company that located 

financing for various businesses, and asked for assistance in obtaining institutional 

financing for Metro Gem to lend to Petters.  Vennes explained Petters’s business to 

Wollum, and he also explained the financing relationship Vennes and Petters had 

developed.  Wollum was able to connect Vennes with Allstate Financial Services, and the 

parties began discussions regarding a revolving loan from Allstate to Metro Gem for 

$5,000,000 to be used to finance transactions arranged by Petters.   

On November 20, 1996, Vennes and Wollum traveled to Arlington, Virginia to 

meet with representatives from Allstate and Vennes executed documents to close on the 

revolving loan.  The next day, an attorney for Allstate contacted Wollum to inform him 

that Allstate was declining to provide the loan to Vennes because they had conducted a 

background check on Vennes and discovered he had been previously convicted of money 

laundering and drug related charges.  Wollum communicated this information to Vennes, 

who then contacted Allstate’s attorney and tried to explain the events that led to his 

conviction.  Despite his attempts to change the decision, Allstate advised Vennes that it 

was not going forward with the loan because of Vennes’s criminal record. 

C. Vennes continues to have difficulty obtaining institutional financing 

After the Allstate loan fell through, Vennes continued to seek out institutional 

financing.  In 1997, he contacted Donald Anton, whom he had met while they were both 
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inmates at FCI-Sandstone.   Anton was a prominent St. Louis attorney who had been 

convicted of defrauding the St. Louis police and firefighters’ pension fund.  After his 

release from prison, Anton moved back to St. Louis.   

In 1997, Vennes asked Anton to begin soliciting institutional lenders on behalf of 

Vennes.  In 1997 and 1998, Anton contacted multiple lenders seeking money for Vennes, 

through Metro Gem, to lend to Petters, including Deutsche Financial Services, American 

Express, GE Capital, Nations Bank, and Merrill Lynch.  Anton was unsuccessful in 

obtaining any loans for Vennes. 

Vennes described his problems with obtaining money from institutional lenders in 

an interview with FBI Special Agent John Payne2 in August 2001, in which Vennes 

stated: 

The stigma of a felony conviction has denied him free enterprise 
opportunities. Financial institutions do not even want to negotiate terms for 
loans. Consequently, he is forced to obtain capital from individuals. 
 

Report of Interview of Frank Elroy Vennes, Jr., August 6, 2001. 
 

D. Vennes borrows money from Fry to loan to Petters 

Vennes’s break finally came in 1998, when he met Jim Fry.  Fry, a former dentist, 

and later a broker with Smith Barney and Piper Jaffray, had started a small investment 

company in 1996, called Arrowhead Capital Management.  At the time, Fry had a fund 

invested primarily in medical device start-up companies.  Fry lent some of his fund’s 

investors’ money to Metro Gem, and in exchange Vennes paid Fry annualized interest 

                                                      
2 Vennes was interviewed in connection with his application for a Presidential Pardon. 
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rates of up to 48% on short-term notes.   Vennes then lent this money to Petters in 

exchange for short-term promissory notes with even higher rates of return.  

E. Vennes and Fry try to borrow money from Barclays Capital 

In 1999, Vennes and Fry jointly attempted to obtain a 150 million dollar line of 

credit from Barclays Capital.  Vennes and Fry sought out the line of credit in order to 

obtain funds to lend to Petters, purportedly to finance PCI’s acquisition of consumer 

goods at a discount that he was then able to resell at a profit.  In April of 1999, after more 

than two months of negotiations, Vennes and Fry had an agreement in principle with 

Barclays.   

As part of the final due diligence for the deal, Barclays informed Fry and Vennes 

that they would need to conduct criminal background checks on both of them, and asked 

them to sign releases so that the checks could be done.  Vennes advised the Barclays 

representative that he had a felony record.  Barclays hired the Kroll company to conduct 

Vennes’s background check.  When Barclays learned that Vennes’s criminal record 

included money laundering, firearms and narcotics convictions, Barclays informed Fry 

and Vennes that they were terminating the deal because of Vennes’s criminal history. 

F. Fry loans his investors’ money to PCI through Vennes 

 When the Barclays deal fell through, enticed by the extraordinarily high interest 

rates Petters was paying Vennes, Fry decided to raise funds to invest with Petters in 

another way.  In late 1999, he began taking money from investors to invest with PCI 

using an offshore hedge fund he formed the previous year in Bermuda called Arrowhead 
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Capital Finance, Ltd. (“ACF”).  In order to have access to the PCI deals, however, Fry 

was required to go through Vennes.  And so, beginning in or about October 1999, Fry, 

through ACF, provided millions of dollars of his investors’ money to Vennes which 

Vennes then provided to PCI, purportedly to fund the purchase of consumer goods for 

resale at a profit.  For each loan, Petters gave Vennes a promissory note promising to pay 

Metro Gem 90 days later at annualized interest rates of approximately 70 percent.   

Vennes would then assign the PCI promissory notes to ACF.  

 This arrangement continued throughout 2000, and Fry began marketing ACF as a 

hedge fund primarily engaged in the financing of consumer goods transactions.  Although 

ACF marketing materials did not mention PCI by name, all of the lending done by ACF 

was for PCI.  The Offering Memorandum for ACF described its “Investment Strategy” as 

follows: 

The Company intends to exploit its objectives through strategic 
relationships with one or more inventory brokers.  Over approximately the 
last three years, the Manager has worked with and established a relationship 
with an inventory broker (the “Broker”) involving 139 transactions having 
a value of $149,000,000. During that time, none of the parties to those 
transactions defaulted and the Broker enjoyed a 100% payment record with 
respect to those matters. 
 
ACF’s Offering Memorandum also listed a number of the parties involved with 

the fund, including ACF’s auditors, KPMG Peat Marwick (“KPMG”), as well as the 

Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Sons (“Butterfield Bank”), which served as ACF’s 

Administrator, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Custodian Bank.  Conspicuously absent 

from the Offering Memorandum was any mention of Vennes, even though Vennes 
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brokered every single loan between ACF and PCI.   Indeed, although the Offering 

Memorandum touted ACF’s “relationship with the inventory broker [i.e., PCI],” there is 

no mention that this “relationship” was really with Vennes. 

G. Butterfield discovers Fry concealed Vennes’s role and criminal record  

 One of the Butterfield Bank’s responsibilities as the custodian for ACF was 

maintaining the fund’s collateral, which were the Petters promissory notes issued to 

Metro Gem and assigned by Vennes to ACF.  The notes held by the Butterfield Bank 

contained a one page “assignment” of the promissory note between PCI and Metro Gem 

to ACF; the assignment was signed by Frank Vennes as Chief Executive Officer of Metro 

Gem, Inc.  In the summer of 2000, an employee at Butterfield Bank was doing a routine 

review of the ACF collateral after receiving an SEC bulletin regarding the suspicious 

nature of promissory note transactions.  The employee conducted a background check on 

Vennes and learned that he had been convicted of money laundering, narcotics and 

firearms offenses.   

Hal Masters, who was a Vice President of Butterfield Bank and a Managing 

Director of Butterfield Fund Services, contacted Fry and confronted him as to why he had 

failed to disclose Vennes’s prior criminal convictions.   When ACF’s auditors at KPMG 

learned about Vennes’s criminal history, they were also concerned about Fry’s failure to 

disclose this information.  In an attempt to explain away his concealment of Vennes’s 

criminal past, Fry claimed that he did not think disclosure was necessary because Vennes 

and Metro Gem “serve purely as a conduit to the inventory broker [Petters] and manage 
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the relationship with the investment opportunity” and because “the investor’s funds, 

investment process and ArrowHead companies are controlled entirely by James N. Fry 

and the Directors of the respective investment entities.”  Despite this explanation, the 

Butterfield Bank terminated its relationship with Fry and ACF based on Fry’s failure to 

disclose Vennes’s criminal history. 

H. Fry lies to ACF’s auditors about Vennes 

 Fry then sought the services of another bank to take Butterfield’s place, and began 

negotiations with the Bermuda Commercial Bank.  Fry also had to persuade KPMG to 

stay on as ACF’s auditors after they expressed concern about continued dealings with 

Vennes now that they were aware of his criminal history.  In October of 2000, Fry 

represented to KPMG that “Vennes’ case is before the Executive Committee of the White 

House for expungement and complete discharge.”  In December of 2000, Fry represented 

to both KPMG and to the Bermuda Commercial Bank that “in the event that Mr. Vennes’ 

expungement has not been achieved to KPMG’s satisfaction prior to 31st December, 

2000, that Arrowhead will cease from dealing with MetroGem.”  KPMG agreed to stay 

on based on this representation and the Bermuda Commercial Bank agreed to act as the 

custodian for ACF.   

Vennes’s convictions were not “expunged” – not by the December 31, 2000 

deadline Fry had conveyed to KPMG and the Bermuda Commercial Bank, and indeed not 

ever.  Fry nevertheless needed to continue working through Vennes in order for Fry and 

ACF to do business with PCI – and this business was critical because the profit from the 
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loans to Petters was the sole source of revenue for ACF.   And so, Fry lied to ACF’s 

auditors.   In a letter dated March 23, 2001, Fry represented to KPMG that “ACF now 

deals direct with Petters and the previous arrangements involving MetroGem and Frank 

Vennes no longer apply.”  This, of course, was false and designed to conceal Vennes’s 

involvement in the PCI transactions.  In early 2001, Fry altered the paperwork 

documenting the transactions so that the promissory notes now were between PCI and 

ACF, and neither the name Vennes nor Metro Gem appeared on the paperwork that 

would be given to the bank.  This change in the paperwork was designed to conceal from 

the bank and KPMG that Vennes was involved in the PCI note transactions.  However, 

Fry and ACF had hardly “ceased dealing” with Vennes or Metro Gem.  Vennes continued 

to control the availability of financing deals between Arrowhead and PCI, and indeed, by 

express agreement with Petters, all communication between Arrowhead and PCI had to 

go through Vennes.3 

I. The start of the “flow of funds” misrepresentations   

After surviving the scare prompted by Butterfield’s discovery of Vennes’s 

criminal history, Fry continued to operate ACF, and continued to use ACF investors’ 

money to loan to PCI through Vennes.  In 2001, Fry also started an onshore fund, 

Arrowhead Capital Partners II (“ACP II”), which, like ACF, used investors’ money to 

                                                      
3 The role played by Frank Vennes and Metro Gem with regard to all of the transactions between PCI and 
the Arrowhead Funds is described in detail in Section I(P), below.   
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finance PCI transactions, also through Vennes.4   The day to day operations of both ACF 

and ACP II were administered by Arrowhead Capital Management, a company owned 

and controlled by Fry (Fry and Arrowhead Capital Management are collectively referred 

to as “Arrowhead”).  Fry was the primary salesman for both ACF and ACP II, and he 

routinely met with prospective investors in an attempt to convince them to invest in both 

of the funds.   

When he met with investors, Fry described the transactions being financed by both 

ACF and ACP II as follows:   

• PCI contacts Arrowhead seeking financing for the purchase of a 
large amount of consumer merchandise which PCI is able to obtain 
from a supplier at a discount;  

• PCI already has a commitment from a “Big Box” retailer (which Fry 
often described as Sam’s Club or BJ’s Wholesale Club) to purchase 
the merchandise at a profit to PCI; 

• PCI provides Arrowhead with a purchase order from the supplier 
identifying the merchandise and the purchase price; 

• PCI also provides Arrowhead with a purchase order from the retailer 
showing that the retailer has already agreed to purchase the 
merchandise; 

• If Arrowhead decides to finance the deal, it wires the purchase price 
directly to the supplier of the merchandise, which then ships the 
goods to the retailer; 

• PCI provides Arrowhead with a promissory note promising that 
Arrowhead will receive payment in 90 days;  

                                                      
4 Vennes also controlled the availability of PCI note investments for ACP II, and, as with ACF, all 
communications between Arrowhead and PCI regarding ACP II were required to go through Vennes or 
Metro Gem.  
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• Arrowhead acquires a lien on the merchandise while it is in transit, 
and Arrowhead also purchases property and casualty insurance on 
the goods in case they are damaged or lost before delivery to the 
retailer; 

• After the retailer takes delivery of the merchandise, the retailer pays 
Arrowhead directly into a bank account controlled by the Arrowhead 
Fund; and 

• Arrowhead keeps the principal and interest due under the promissory 
note and then pays PCI the remainder of the profit from the sale to 
the retailer. 

 
Fry also provided investors and potential investors written materials, including a 

Private Placement Memorandum, which described the transactions in the same way.  In 

particular, these written materials informed investors that the “Big Box” retailers paid 

Arrowhead directly, and that the “inventory broker” (PCI) always was paid last.  Fry also 

explained to investors that the transaction was structured to keep the broker out of the 

flow of money (i.e., that Arrowhead wired the loan funds to the supplier on the front end 

and received payment from the retailer on the back end), which he described as an 

important risk mitigation feature of the investment.  

In fact, Fry knew from the beginning that his description of the transaction was 

false.  Indeed, contrary to what Fry told investors, neither ACF nor ACP II ever received 

a single payment from any retailers.  Instead, all of the payments on the promissory notes 

(hundreds of payments over a period from 2001 through 2008) came from PCI.  In 

reality, PCI was colluding with the purported “suppliers” (primarily Michael Catain and 

Larry Reynolds), who simply forwarded the money to PCI.  Obviously, had Arrowhead 

in fact been receiving payments from Costco or Sam’s Club, that would have been 
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confirmation that there were real deals underlying the PCI notes, and there could have 

been no PCI Ponzi scheme.  The importance of this aspect of the transaction for risk 

mitigation explains why Fry persisted in this false representation to investors from 2001 

through the collapse of the scheme in 2008.    

Vennes knew that these misrepresentations were being made to the Arrowhead 

funds’ investors, and he nevertheless continued to broker all the deals between 

Arrowhead and PCI and to act as the conduit for all communication between Arrowhead 

and PCI.  Petters paid Vennes substantial commissions for the money brought to PCI 

through the Arrowhead Funds.  Indeed, between 2001 and 2008 Vennes obtained more 

than $48 million in commissions related to the Arrowhead Funds’ investment in PCI 

notes, which was more than the total amount ($41 million) made by Fry and business 

entities controlled by Fry. 

J. Early indications that the PCI deals were not real 

In December of 2002, Arrowhead was contacted by an employee of Wells Fargo, 

the bank that handled wiring of money in connection with the ACP II fund.  The Wells 

Fargo employee advised Arrowhead that he had been contacted by an investigator from 

Wachovia Bank, who was looking into whether a wire from Arrowhead was part of a 

“Ponzi scheme” or “money laundering.”  The investigator advised that Arrowhead had 

wired $5,000,000 to an account at Wachovia and that there were suspicious 

circumstances surrounding the wire.  The Wachovia investigator indicated that the 

account had been opened recently under the business name “After the Second 
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Millennium,” and, shortly after the wire came in from Arrowhead, a person claiming to 

be the account holder came in requesting to wire the funds out of the account.  The 

Wachovia investigator further advised Wells Fargo that when the account holder was 

asked to show identification, he refused to do so.  In 2002, “After the Second 

Millennium” was one of the companies PCI claimed was a “supplier,” and the $5,000,000 

wire from Arrowhead had been sent as part of a PCI Note transaction, purportedly in 

payment for more than 5,000 JVC television sets that PCI was selling to Sam’s Club. 

Rather than thanking the Wachovia investigator for making Arrowhead aware of a 

suspicious transaction, Fry responded by attacking the messenger.   He drafted a letter to 

the President and CEO of the Wachovia Corporation complaining about the investigator 

and threatening litigation.  The letter stated that: “In our view, [the Wachovia 

investigator]’s behavior may constitute slander and tortuous [sic] interference with our 

business.  [Arrowhead Capital Management] will pursue this vigorously and if necessary 

exercise all of our rights under the law.”  The letter further demanded “a letter of 

apology” and “an explanation of the disciplinary action and the changes you have made 

to your procedures to insure that this inexcusable and totally avoidable situation will not 

be repeated.” 

One Arrowhead employee, however, was quite concerned about what had been 

reported by the Wachovia investigator.  Ted Ceglia, who had been hired by Fry to act as 

Arrowhead’s CFO, had previously reviewed the PCI promissory note transaction 

structure and was concerned that Arrowhead had never confirmed any of the purported 
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sales of merchandise with the “Big Box” retailers, and was relying solely on paperwork 

provided by PCI to ensure that the transactions were taking place.  Ceglia had 

recommended that Arrowhead meet both with the companies that were supplying 

merchandise to PCI and with the retailers (Sam’s Club, Costco) that were buying the 

merchandise from PCI.  Ceglia was advised by Fry that Arrowhead was not permitted to 

contact the retailers; Petters prohibited such contact because he claimed it would 

jeopardize PCI’s relationship with the retailers.  Ceglia also was concerned about 

Vennes’s involvement in the transactions and advised Fry on several occasions that he 

should be disclosed to investors or removed from the transactions. 

When Ceglia learned about the information provided by the Wachovia 

investigator, Ceglia refused to take in any more investor money for PCI transactions until 

Arrowhead engaged in some further due diligence, including contacting the retailers that 

were purportedly buying the merchandise supplied by After the Second Millennium.  

Instead, Fry directed other Arrowhead employees to take in investor money.   

K. Fry learns about problems with Sam’s Club purchase orders 

Ceglia continued to voice concern about the lack of due diligence on the PCI 

transactions, and so Fry hired a private investigator to look into the transactions.5  On 

December 12, 2002, the private investigator, Kevin Fitzgerald, was provided with 

purchase orders from a number of retailers, including Sam’s Club.   Fitzgerald contacted 

the legal department for Wal-Mart (which owns Sam’s Club) and inquired about the 

                                                      
5 Ceglia was still concerned about the lack of due diligence on the PCI deals, as well as Vennes’s 
involvement in the transactions, and so he quit his job and left Arrowhead in early 2003. 



23 
 
 

purchase orders he had been provided by Arrowhead.  The person he spoke with 

indicated that there was something wrong with the purchase orders, although she could 

not discuss the details with him because he was not involved in the transaction.  

Fitzgerald met with Fry and an Arrowhead employee and advised them he had learned 

that there was something wrong with the Sam’s Club purchase orders and that they 

should contact Sam’s directly to follow up.   

A few months later, Fitzgerald was contacted again by Arrowhead to further 

investigate the Sam’s Club purchase orders.   Arrowhead provided Fitzgerald copies of 

three Sam’s Club purchase orders purportedly reflecting that Sam’s Club was purchasing 

merchandise from PCI.  Fitzgerald once again contacted Wal-Mart to inquire about one 

of the purchase orders.  This time he learned that the purchase order was not in the Wal-

Mart system.  He also discovered that the phone number listed on the Sam’s Club 

invoices was wrong.  The phone number for Sam’s Club on the invoice – supposedly 

coming from Sam’s Club – contained an incorrect area code.   

Fitzgerald conveyed this information to Arrowhead and he was paid for his 

investigation.  Arrowhead, however, did nothing further with the information discovered 

by Fitzgerald, which called into question the PCI transactions forming the basis of all of 

Arrowhead’s investments in both the ACF and ACP II funds.  Significantly, Fry did not 

disclose this information to any of Arrowhead’s investors. 
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L. The relationship between Fry and Vennes deteriorates 

Starting in 2002, Fry sought to cut Vennes out of the financing transactions with 

PCI.  Fry understood that Vennes was obtaining a large fee from Petters that was a 

percentage of all of the money Arrowhead loaned to PCI.  Fry thought he could get a 

higher interest rate if he went directly to Petters.  Fry and Vennes also grew to dislike 

each other personally.   Petters, however, insisted that Vennes remain in the middle of all 

of the deals between Arrowhead and PCI.  Indeed, during a period of time in 2002, and 

again in 2003, Petters refused to accept any financing from Arrowhead until Fry 

acknowledged that Vennes was Petters’s “servicing agent” for Arrowhead, and that all 

transactions and communications between Arrowhead and PCI would have to go through 

Vennes.  Fry did not like this arrangement, but knew that in order to continue doing 

business with PCI (the sole source of revenue for both ACF and ACP II), he would have 

to continue to do business with Frank Vennes. 

M. Vennes recruits Prevost and Harrold to form the Palm Beach Funds 

Vennes also did not like doing business with Fry, but he continued to do so 

because he received millions of dollars in fees for the money Arrowhead lent to PCI.  He 

did, however, seek out another hedge fund to take Arrowhead’s place.  In August of 

2002, Vennes invited Bruce Prevost to visit him and stay at his home in Minnesota.  

Prevost ran a brokerage and financial planning business in Florida with his partner, David 

Harrold.  Vennes had learned that Prevost was involved in charitable causes in Florida, 

and that Prevost was a devout Christian.  Prevost was involved with a non-profit 
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organization in Florida involving special needs children.  Prevost believed that the 

purpose of the trip to Minnesota was to talk with Vennes about their mutual interest in 

philanthropy.  Very early into the visit, however, Vennes suggested to Prevost that he 

form a hedge fund to invest in PCI consumer goods transactions. 

Prevost had no experience with these types of transactions, and did not really 

understand them.  Nevertheless, he was intrigued, primarily because Vennes spoke 

effusively about how safe and profitable the investments were.  Prevost contacted David 

Harrold back in Florida to discuss the idea, but Harrold was not interested. 

After Prevost returned to Florida, he and Vennes continued to talk by phone.  

During those calls, Vennes explained the structure of the transactions he was doing with 

Arrowhead and he strongly encouraged Prevost to form a hedge fund to invest in PCI 

notes.  Vennes described the way the Arrowhead/PCI transactions were purportedly 

operating, characterizing the investment as very safe, akin to “prime paper.”   Vennes 

told Prevost that he could provide Prevost with Arrowhead’s offering materials and that 

he would even provide the “seed investment” of $10 to $40 million to give the fund a 

track record.  By the end of September, Vennes and Prevost had spoken several times and 

Prevost became more interested in working with Vennes to form a fund to invest with 

PCI.  Harrold was still not convinced, but he agreed to accompany Prevost on a trip to 

Minnesota, where they once again stayed at Vennes’s home.   

When Prevost and Harrold arrived in Minnesota, Vennes had lined up a number of 

people to meet with them in an attempt to convince them to form a hedge fund, including 
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Tom Petters.  Vennes also showed them copies of his tax returns, showing how much 

money he was making.  Vennes showed them a news article about an anonymous million 

dollar donation to a Christian organization, and he told them that he was the 

“anonymous” donor.  Vennes also reiterated that he would provide the seed money for 

the new fund.  Prevost and Harrold were impressed with Vennes’s presentation, his large 

home, and the amount of money he had been making in his dealings with Petters.  By the 

end of the trip, Prevost, Harrold and Vennes agreed to work together to form a hedge 

fund to invest in PCI. 

N. Vennes, Prevost and Harrold form the Palm Beach Funds and 
replicate Arrowhead’s Flow of Funds Misrepresentations 
  

When they returned to Florida, Prevost and Harrold began the process of forming 

Palm Beach Finance Partners, LP (“PBFP”), a hedge fund which they would manage 

through an investment management company they formed called Palm Beach 

Management (the hedge funds formed by Prevost and Harrold are referred to collectively 

as the “Palm Beach Funds,” and the Palm Beach Funds, Prevost, Harrold, and Palm 

Beach Management are referred to collectively as “Palm Beach”).   

As promised, Vennes provided Prevost and Harrold with Arrowhead’s Private 

Placement Memorandum for ACP II, which they used to prepare the Offering 

Memorandum for PBFP.  The Arrowhead Private Placement Memorandum contained 

misrepresentations about the PCI transactions, falsely stating that the retailers paid the 

Arrowhead bank account directly for the goods financed by ACP II, when in fact the 

payments were coming from PCI.  Vennes made the same misrepresentation to Prevost 
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verbally when he described how the Arrowhead Funds’ transactions with PCI operated.  

This false description of the “flow of funds” was incorporated into the PBFP Offering 

Memorandum, which Prevost and Harrold began to provide to potential investors 

beginning toward the end of 2002. 

Initially, however, Prevost and Harrold could not interest any investors because 

PBFP had no track record.  To that end, in November and early December of 2002, 

Vennes provided PBFP a total of $10 million to invest in four PCI notes, each of which 

was scheduled to pay off in 90 days from funding.  Two of the PCI notes contained 

purchase orders for Sam’s Club, one for Boscov’s, and one for BJ’s Wholesale Club.  

When PBFP began receiving payment on the notes in February 2003, Prevost and 

Harrold noticed that the money was not coming back from Sam’s Club, or Boscov’s, or 

BJ’s.  All of the payments instead were coming from PCI.  Prevost and Harrold raised 

this issue with Vennes, who indicated that it was not a problem.   

Vennes assured Prevost and Harrold that the payments came from PCI because 

they were just getting the PBFP Fund started and that Petters was working it out with the 

retailers.  Vennes knew that this was false because he was aware that, even though 

Arrowhead’s offering materials stated that the retailers paid the Arrowhead funds 

directly, this had never in fact been the case, and Arrowhead was getting paid by PCI. 

In March of 2003, Prevost and Harrold scheduled a phone call with a potential 

investor in PBFP.  Vennes was also on the phone call to address questions and to ensure 
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that Prevost and Harrold were pitching the investment the way Vennes wanted it done.6  

In the phone call, Prevost describes how safe the investment is, noting in particular that 

the “inventory broker” (PCI) never touches the money until after PBFP is paid. 

Prevost: So what happens is the investor money goes into this account.  
Once all the items are in place, like we already discussed, the 
purchase, the sale agreement, the insurance, we have title, we 
have possession, we can then wire the money to the seller, 
okay?  We have a note now on the other side from, say, 
Sam’s.  At the end of 90 days, that money from Sam’s is 
coming right back to us. 

 
Investor:  Into the lockbox? 
 
Prevost:  Correct. 
 
Investor:  Okay. 
 
Prevost:  We are paying, then, the broker. 
 
Investor:  So he hits you first, then you pay the broker out instead of the 

other way around? 
 
Prevost:  Exactly.  So what happens is it’s not like the broker suddenly 

gets the money and can disappear one day.  He doesn’t have, 
he never has the money to disappear with.  It’s always in a 
lockbox, and from the lockbox, we will pay the broker his 
commission. 

    
At the time of the call, Prevost, Harrold and Vennes each knew this representation about 

the payments coming from the retailers was false.   

In subsequent PCI note transactions, the payments continued to come back from 

PCI, not the retailers.  Prevost and Harrold continued to raise the issue with Vennes, 

noting that their offering materials described the transaction falsely.  Vennes continued to 

                                                      
6 The phone call was audio-recorded.  A recording and transcript will be an exhibit at trial.  
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assure Prevost and Harrold that he would get things straightened out with Petters.  This 

never happened, and over the life of the Palm Beach Funds not a single payment came 

from a retailer, and instead all payments came from PCI.  Nevertheless, the Palm Beach 

Funds’ offering documents and marketing materials stated that the Funds received 

payments directly from the retailers and Prevost and Harrold continued to describe the 

PCI transactions to investors in the way Prevost had in the March 2003 phone call quoted 

above.  Palm Beach took in hundreds of millions of dollars from investors based on a 

false description of the PCI note transactions.   From 2003 through September 2008, in 

approximately 2,100 investment transactions, the Palm Beach Funds obtained more than 

a billion dollars of investors’ money which was then invested in PCI notes.  In every 

single transaction, Palm Beach received payment on the note from PCI, not the retailers.  

Nevertheless, Prevost and Harrold continued to tell investors, both orally and in written 

materials, that the Palm Beach funds received payment from the retailers.   

Vennes knew that these misrepresentations were being made to the Palm Beach 

Funds’ investors, and he nevertheless continued to broker all the deals between Palm 

Beach and PCI and to act as the conduit for all communication between Palm Beach and 

PCI.  Petters paid Vennes substantial commissions for the money brought to PCI through 

the Palm Beach Funds.  Indeed, between 2003 and 2008 Vennes obtained more than $60 

million in commissions related to the Palm Beach Funds’ investment in PCI notes, which 

was more than the total amount ($58 million) made by Prevost, Harrold and Palm Beach 

Management.  
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O. Substantial problems with the PCI notes in 2007 and 2008 

Beginning in the fall of 2007, the PCI Ponzi scheme began to falter.  Up to that 

point, Petters had had access to progressively larger amounts of money, primarily as a 

result of the influx of investments from hedge funds like Palm Beach and Arrowhead, 

and another large hedge fund, Lancelot, run by Gregory Bell.  As a result, PCI had been 

able to pay off the PCI notes “like clockwork” in about 90 days.  In the fall of 2007, the 

payments on the notes became progressively later for Arrowhead and Palm Beach, as 

well as on the notes held by Vennes through his company, Metro Gem, Inc.  By 

December 2007, all of the notes were extending substantially beyond 90 days.  By their 

terms, Vennes’s notes with PCI went into default if they were not paid within 90 days.  

The PCI notes held by Arrowhead and Palm Beach were due within 90 days, but they did 

not go into default unless they went beyond 182 days without payment – Arrowhead and 

Palm Beach both described the PCI notes to investors as 90-day notes and emphasized to 

investors how consistently they paid as a feature of the security of the investment in the 

Arrowhead and Palm Beach Funds.      

By February 2008, millions of dollars of PCI notes held by both Arrowhead and 

Palm Beach were on the verge of going into default.  Neither Arrowhead nor Palm Beach 

conveyed this information to their investors.  Instead, Fry directed that Arrowhead, 

through Vennes, enter into an agreement with PCI to extend the default dates on 13 notes 

to prevent them from going into default, again without advising Arrowhead investors.  

Indeed, starting in March of 2008, in order to conceal the late payments, Fry directed 
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Arrowhead employees to remove from monthly communications to Arrowhead investors 

the average payment dates of the PCI notes.  Fry also continued to solicit investors and 

continued to represent to investors and potential investors that Arrowhead was receiving 

payments on the PCI notes in around 90 days. 

Prevost and Harrold also concealed the payment problems from their investors.  In 

February and March 2008, rather than allow hundreds of millions of dollars in PCI notes 

to go into default, Vennes proposed to Prevost and Harrold a “note swap” arrangement, in 

which they would exchange the notes which were on the verge of defaulting with other 

PCI notes which had later maturity dates.  Beginning in or about February 2008, Prevost 

and Harrold, through Vennes, engaged in more than 35 “note swap” transactions.  These 

transactions represented more than 250 individual PCI notes with a total value of 

approximately one billion dollars – virtually all of the Palm Beach Funds’ holdings.  The 

“note swaps” created the false appearance that the PCI notes had not defaulted, and were 

intended to conceal PCI’s inability to pay.  Instead of receiving cash payments and then 

reinvesting that cash in new PCI notes as they had done in the past, Prevost and Harrold, 

aided and abetted by Vennes, simply exchanged old PCI notes for new ones, in a cashless 

exchange of paper.  Documentation for all note swaps was arranged by, and run through, 

Vennes.  During this time period, Prevost and Harrold, encouraged by Vennes, continued 

to solicit new investment in the Palm Beach Funds without advising investors about the 

problems with the PCI notes.   
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P. Vennes’s role in the deals between PCI and Arrowhead 

By agreement between Jim Fry and Tom Petters, Vennes and Metro Gem were the 

“servicing agent” for PCI for all of the transactions between PCI and ACF and ACP II.  

At one point in 2002, Fry attempted to eliminate Vennes from these transactions, but 

Petters declined to permit that, and instead informed Fry that “until you commit to 

recognizing Metro Gem’s role as service agent, [PCI] will not accept additional funding 

from your company.”  Fry agreed in a letter dated August 20, 2002, “acknowledging” 

Metro Gem as the servicing agent and asking that, in light of his acknowledgment, PCI 

could “immediately ‘accept loans from my company.’” 

In a letter to Fry of that same date, Vennes’s counsel described what Vennes and 

Metro Gem had been doing for Arrowhead up to that time, as well as the role Metro Gem 

would continue to play: 

Metro Gem has been acting as service agent for you and it has been 
acceptable to this point.  Metro Gem has performed due diligence with 
respect to vendors; has selected deals for financing; has placed funds; has 
perfected security interests; has monitored deal flow; has managed banking 
transactions and payment procedure; and has communicated deal status and 
payment.  You have had no objection to this and Metro Gem’s services 
have been beneficial to your company.  This aspect of the business 
relationship is not changing.  There is also no change in the deal flow or the 
legal structure of the deals.  Further, the return on the loans is not changing.  
You are simply being asked to utilize Metro Gem as your point of contact 
with The Petters Company.  This does not change the business 
opportunities that currently exist nor does it prevent you from 
communicating with Tom Petters as long as communication is initiated 
through the Service Agent [Metro Gem].  This will allow you to meet with 
Tom Petters.  You can have potential lenders meet with Tom Petters and 
you can conduct due diligence as Tom Petters so allows.  You are simply 
being asked to coordinate these activities through Metro Gem who will 
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have a representative present as it deems appropriate.  The business 
opportunity still exists. 
   

(Emphasis added.)  In the same letter, Vennes’s counsel emphasized how much control 

Vennes had over Arrowhead’s dealings with PCI, writing: “Metro Gem has shown 

flexibility in allowing you to structure loans to accommodate your fund requirements.  

Metro Gem has allowed you to loan funds directly to the Petters Company based on your 

commitment to utilize Metro Gem as the point of contact.”    

In practice, from 2001 through most of 2008, all deals between PCI and both of 

Fry’s PCI-invested funds, ACF and ACP II, and all communications related to those 

deals, went through Vennes and Metro Gem.  (Metro Gem was never a large company, 

and was, at its largest, Frank Vennes and a couple of employees.)   When Arrowhead got 

money from an investor in ACF or ACP II, Arrowhead would contact Metro Gem to see 

if there were any PCI “deals” the fund could finance.  Metro Gem would then indicate to 

Arrowhead whether PCI had any deals at that time.     

Moreover, Vennes was right in the middle of the transfer of money and the 

payment of funds on the PCI notes.  At the front end, if Vennes determined there was a 

PCI deal for Arrowhead, Vennes then directed Arrowhead as to where they were to wire 

money for the purported purchase of the consumer goods financed by ACF or ACP II.  

As Fry himself wrote in a letter describing this structure, “ACM [Arrowhead Capital 

Management] will take direction from PCI through its service agent [Metro Gem] 

regarding transfer of funds.”  Indeed, with respect to the $5,000,000 wire from 

Arrowhead to the purported supplier “After the Second Millennium” which the Wachovia 
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Bank investigator found suspicious, the instructions for that wire came from Metro Gem.  

Significantly, Metro Gem directed Arrowhead to wire funds to multiple bank accounts, 

purportedly connected to After the Second Millennium, right around this same time 

period.  A review of bank records shows that during a nine-month period from June of 

2002 to March of 2003, Metro Gem directed Arrowhead to wire funds totaling more than 

$64 million to seven different bank accounts listed for After the Second Millennium.      

In addition, all of the paperwork purportedly documenting the PCI note 

transactions (including the promissory note itself, copies of the purchase orders from the 

purported supplier and copies of the purchase orders from the purported retailer 

purchasers) was provided to Arrowhead by Metro Gem.   

Finally, when a PCI note was about to pay off, Metro Gem contacted Arrowhead 

to let them know a wire would be coming in to Arrowhead’s bank account.  As described 

above, although Arrowhead investors were told that the retailers were paying Arrowhead, 

from 2001 through 2008, all of those wires came from PCI.    

 If Fry or Arrowhead wanted to communicate with Petters or PCI as to matters 

beyond the processing of PCI notes, they were still required to go through Metro Gem.  

Indeed, even if Fry or Arrowhead had concerns about anything Vennes or Metro Gem 

were doing, they were required to raise those issues through Metro Gem.   

Finally, as noted above, Petters paid Vennes more than $48 million related to the 

money he brought into PCI through the Arrowhead Funds. 
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Q. Vennes’s role in the deals between PCI and Palm Beach 

As noted above, Vennes taught Prevost and Harrold how the PCI transactions with 

Arrowhead purportedly operated in an effort to convince them to form the Palm Beach 

Funds.  Vennes also provided Prevost and Harrold Arrowhead’s offering documents to 

use as a template for the Palm Beach offering documents, and he provided Prevost and 

Harrold with $10 million to give the Palm Beach Funds an appearance of a track record 

in order to induce investors.  Vennes taught Prevost and Harrold how to pitch the 

investment to potential investors, and even sat in on a phone call with an investor to make 

sure they were doing it the way he wanted.     

Moreover, from the beginning, Prevost and Harrold were contractually obligated 

to do business with PCI through Vennes.  In October of 2002, Prevost and Harrold signed 

an agreement making Vennes the exclusive agent between Palm Beach and Tom Petters 

and PCI.  In the agreement, Vennes wrote that “[PCI] has committed to conducting all 

communications and business with [Palm Beach] through Metro Gem, Inc.”  The 

agreement further described Vennes’s role:  

I will arrange all meetings for you with Tom Petters and [PCI].  You are to 
direct all communications to me for Tom Petters or [PCI], and I will pass 
the communications along for you.  If you have need of any information 
concerning Petters, this should also be presented to me.  If there is any need 
for due diligence by you or any party related to you, the due diligence 
request should be presented to me. . . . I know the Petters business 
intimately so please utilize Metro Gem, Inc. to its fullest extent for your 
greatest success. 
 

Petters was similarly obligated to do business with Palm Beach only through Vennes.  

Petters also signed a written agreement, drafted by Vennes, in which Petters agreed that:  
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Petters will conduct all communications with the Lender [Palm Beach] 
through Metro Gem, Inc. . . . Petters agrees not to establish any type of 
lending facility, financing, capitalization or other financial relationship with 
[Palm Beach] except through Metro Gem, Inc. as servicing agent. 
 

In practice, from 2002 through September 2008, all documentation for transactions 

between the Palm Beach Funds and PCI (approximately 2,100 separate transactions, 

totaling billions of dollars) came to Palm Beach from Vennes or Vennes’s employee.  

During that same period, substantially all communication between PCI and Palm Beach 

went through Vennes or Vennes’s employee.  

Finally, as noted above, Petters paid Vennes more than $60 million related to the 

money he brought into PCI through the Palm Beach Funds. 

R. Vennes conceals PCI note problems from his investors 

In the fall of 2007, Vennes held nearly $130 million of PCI notes.  Most of the 

funds used to invest in the PCI notes came from investors in Metro Gem.  After October 

of 2007, all PCI notes held by Vennes were paid only after they had gone into default.  

This information was not communicated to investors by Vennes. 

Rather than disclose to investors that all of the PCI notes held by Metro Gem were 

paying off only after going into default, Vennes informed some investors that he was 

being “slow paid” on some of the notes.  He did not inform investors that by May 2008, 

PCI notes held by Metro Gem were being paid more than 50 days after they went into 

default.  Instead, Vennes continued to make regular interest payments to Metro Gem 

investors, sometimes taking money from new investors and using it to pay existing 
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investors.  These “lulling payments” were designed to give the false impression that the 

PCI investment was performing normally.   

In the summer of 2008, Petters told Vennes that there was fraud at PCI and that 

the PCI notes were “compromised.”  When Vennes asked about the extent of the fraud, 

Petters told him it could be as much as twenty-percent of the PCI notes.7  Vennes 

concealed this information from Metro Gem investors and, although he was the principal 

source of communication between PCI and the Arrowhead and Palm Beach Funds, he did 

not disclose that he had been told that there was fraud related to the PCI notes to either 

Arrowhead or Palm Beach investors.  Instead, during this same time period he 

encouraged Prevost and Harrold to bring in new investor money. 

By June 2008, Vennes knew that at least some of the Metro Gem investors’ money 

which he sent to PCI was not being used to buy consumer electronics or other consumer 

merchandise, and instead was being used to pay off the holders of existing PCI notes.  

Nevertheless, Vennes continued to take money from Metro Gem investors telling them 

that the money was going to PCI to finance the purchase of consumer goods.  

By August 2008, Vennes was having problems paying his investors, as well as his 

own significant personal expenses.  On August 26, 2008, Vennes took $220,000 from 

Metro Gem investor “C.H.” with the investor’s understanding that the money would be 

used by Metro Gem to invest in a PCI Note.  On September 4, 2008, Vennes took another 

$180,000 from Metro Gem investor C.H. with the understanding that the money would be 

                                                      
7 Vennes admitted this during an interview with law enforcement agents on September 24, 2008. 
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used to invest in a PCI Note.  Rather than use the funds as promised, Vennes used those 

funds for other purposes, including mortgage payments on two of his houses, as well as 

car payments, credit card payments, and “lulling” interest payments to other Metro Gem 

investors.  

S. Vennes’s bank fraud 

In April 2003, Vennes applied for a multi-million dollar credit line with Home 

Federal Savings Bank that was to be secured by PCI notes issued to Metro Gem.   The 

PCI notes were purportedly for the financing of consumer electronics deals brokered by 

PCI.  To convince the bank to accept the PCI notes as collateral, Vennes made a number 

of representations about due diligence he performed with respect to each of the 

transactions.  Vennes told the bank that, before investing in a PCI deal, he “verifies the 

transaction” by contacting the supplier of the goods purportedly being sold, contacting 

the purchaser of the goods purportedly being purchased, and that his employees checked 

the delivery trucks.   

Vennes’s representations about his due diligence were false, because had he in fact 

done what he said he was doing, Vennes would have known that the transactions 

underlying the PCI notes were fictitious, meaning that either Vennes knew they were 

entirely fictitious or he lied about doing due diligence.  Based on Vennes’s 

representations, Home Federal approved a $2,000,000 line of credit.    

Over time, Home Federal approved several increases in the line of credit, which 

continued to be collateralized by PCI notes held by Vennes.   In May 2008, Vennes 
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sought to increase his line of credit with Home Federal to $13 million.  At that time, 

Vennes knew that PCI had been unable to repay more than a billion dollars to the Palm 

Beach Funds and the Arrowhead Funds, and he knew that PCI had been re-paying the 

PCI notes held by Metro Gem long after the notes had gone into default.  Knowing that 

he was required to notify Home Federal if the PCI notes held as collateral went into 

default, Vennes falsely represented to a bank employee that the PCI notes were paying as 

agreed in order to induce Home Federal Savings Bank to renew and increase his line of 

credit.  

T. Vennes’s other fraudulent attempts to obtain funds to provide to PCI  

Beginning in or about 2003, Vennes began working with a third party agent, B & 

L Financial Inc. (“B&L”), to solicit additional funds for Vennes to invest in PCI notes.  

Vennes directed B&L to approach various banks to lend him money to provide to PCI.  

At Vennes’s direction, B&L prepared a “Confidential Memorandum” which purported to 

describe the process by which Vennes, through Metro Gem, invested in PCI notes.  The 

2003 “Confidential Memorandum” stated that Vennes, through Metro Gem, had been 

investing in PCI promissory note transactions for 7 years and that these transactions 

involved sales of consumer goods to purchasers like “Wal-Mart, Costco, Sams Club [sic], 

etc.”  The “Confidential Memorandum” also stated that, with respect to each promissory 

note, Vennes, through Metro Gem, “verifies the transaction” by “contacting the supplier 

and the purchaser, all prior to any cash investment in the transaction.”  B&L’s efforts in 
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2003 and 2004 were unsuccessful and B&L was not able to secure any loans for Vennes 

for investment with Petters and PCI. 

In November 2007, Vennes asked B&L once again to solicit money to invest in 

PCI notes.  At Vennes’s direction, B&L prepared a Metro Gem “Executive Summary” 

which purported to describe the process by which Vennes invested in PCI notes, and 

which was provided to numerous potential investors in an effort to induce them to lend 

Vennes money to invest in PCI notes.  The “Executive Summary” stated that Vennes, 

through Metro Gem, had been investing in PCI promissory note transactions for 12 years; 

that the notes were typically due in 90 days; and that since its inception, Metro Gem had 

funded “in excess of $10 billion in transactions without a single default.”   Vennes also 

represented in the “Executive Summary” that, with respect to each promissory note, 

Vennes “verifies the transaction” by “contacting the supplier and the purchaser, all prior 

to any cash investment in the transaction.”  In 2007 through August 2008, B&L provided 

the “Executive Summary” to numerous potential investors at Vennes’s direction in an 

effort to obtain money for investment with Petters and PCI.  These efforts proved 

unsuccessful. 

U. Fry lies to the SEC during sworn testimony  

Fry gave sworn testimony to attorneys from the Securities and Exchange 

Commission on October 25 and 26, and November 5, 2010.  During his testimony he was 

asked about marketing materials that were sent to prospective investors which indicated 

falsely that the Arrowhead Funds received payment on the PCI notes directly from the 
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retailers.  Fry claimed that he did not approve the marketing materials and did not know 

that an Arrowhead employee that he had hired specifically to solicit investors had sent the 

marketing materials out to prospective investors.  The evidence at trial will establish that 

Fry’s testimony on this matter was false. 

During his testimony Fry was also asked about his knowledge of the flow of funds 

in the PCI Note transactions with the Arrowhead Funds.  Fry testified that he was 

unaware that the payments on the PCI notes came from PCI, and not the retailers.  The 

evidence at trial will establish that Fry’s testimony on this matter was also false.   

V. Expert testimony concerning the materiality of the defendants’ 
misrepresentations to investors 

Defendant Vennes has given notice of his intention to call an expert witness, Dr. 

Robert Comment, to testify concerning the materiality of the defendants’ 

misrepresentations and omissions to investors.  In response, the Unites States has noticed 

the testimony of expert witness, Dr. David DeRosa, who would rebut the testimony of Dr. 

Comment.  In his report, Dr. DeRosa expresses the following three opinions: (1) “that 

Mr. Vennes’s role and criminal history were material facts that would have mattered to a 

reasonable investor in deciding whether to invest in the Funds;” (2) “that the 

misrepresentations regarding the ‘flow of funds’ were material and would have mattered 

to a reasonable investor in deciding whether to invest in the Funds;” and (3) that “the 

misrepresentations and omissions regarding the late payments on the PCI Notes in 2007 

and 2008 were material and would have mattered to a reasonable investor in deciding 

whether to invest with the Funds or to redeem money already invested with the Funds.”  
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For the Court’s reference, the government has attached a copy of Dr. DeRosa’s report as 

Exhibit A to this memorandum.  The United States has moved to preclude all expert 

testimony as to materiality, as it is properly an issue for the jury. 

II. POTENTIAL LEGAL AND EVIDENTIARY ISSUES 

 The government provides the following legal analysis concerning possible 

evidentiary issues at trial. 

A. Hearsay Issues 

1. The government may introduce out-of-court statements by the 
defendants, their co-conspirators, and their agents because such 
statements are not hearsay. 
 

Rule 801(d)(2)(A) provides that an out-of-court statement made by an opposing 

party and offered against that party is not hearsay.  Therefore, the government is 

permitted to introduce out-of-court statements by Vennes and Fry. 

Rule 801(d)(2)(D) provides that a statement by an agent or employee of the party-

opponent is a vicarious admission of the party-opponent if the statement regards a matter 

in the scope of employment and is made during the employment relationship.  See United 

States v. Shunk, 881 F.2d 917, 921 (10th Cir. 1989).  Rule 801(d)(2)(D) broadened the 

prior definition of admissible statements of agents from statements “made by the agent 

acting in the scope of his employment” to statements “related to a matter within the scope 

of the agency or employment.”  Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(D), advisory committee note; see 

also Zaken v. Boerer, 964 F.2d 1319, 1322-23 (2d Cir. 1992) (officer of company was in 

sufficient agency relationship with CEO to support conclusion that officer’s statements 
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about matters within scope of employment were not hearsay and were admissible against 

CEO in individual capacity); United States v. Lauersen, 348 F.3d 329, 340 (2d Cir. 2003) 

(employee’s statement that defendant’s office had a tip and destroyed medical files 

relating to investigation before government search were admissible as agency admission 

in prosecution for false insurance claims); White v. Honeywell, Inc., 141 F.3d 1270, 

1275-76 (8th Cir. 1998). 

The government intends to introduce prior statements of employees of Vennes’s 

company, Metro Gem, and Fry’s company, Arrowhead Capital Management.  These 

statements will consist of e-mails and other correspondence, as well notes and 

memoranda written by Metro Gem and Arrowhead Management employees regarding 

matters within the scope of their employment during the course of their employment 

relationships. 

In addition, the government intends to introduce prior statements of Vennes’s 

former attorney, Craig Howse, including e-mails, correspondence, and verbal statements 

from Howse to Vennes’s co-conspirators and their employees, as well as investors and 

potential investors.  All of these communications were within the scope of Howse’s 

authority during the time he was acting as Vennes’s attorney.  See United States v. Ojala, 

544 F.2d 940, 946 (8th Cir. 1976); see also United States v. Mercado, 2003 WL 

21756084, at *7-8 (S.D.N.Y. July 30, 2003) (holding statements of defendant’s former 

attorney within the scope of agency were admissible as admissions of an agent); United 

States v. Brandon, 50 F.3d 464, 468-69 (7th Cir. 1995) (same). 
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Finally, although there is no conspiracy count charged in this case, the evidence 

will show that one existed among at least Vennes and Fry, and Vennes, Prevost and 

Harrold.  The evidence may also establish the existence of a conspiracy between Vennes 

and Petters Company personnel.  The statements of these co-conspirators, whether made 

in e-mails or otherwise, are therefore also admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E).  United 

States v. Mahasin, 362 F.3d 1071, 1084 (8th Cir. 2004) (Rule 801(d)(2)(E) applies even 

if declarant is not charged with conspiracy).  The court may conditionally admit the 

statement of a co-conspirator under the well-established procedure set forth in United 

States v. Bell, 573 F.2d 1040, 1044 (8th Cir. 1978).  Under this procedure, the 

government must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) that a conspiracy 

existed; (2) that a defendant and the declarant were members of the conspiracy; and (3) 

that a declaration was made during the course and furtherance of the conspiracy.  See id.; 

see also United States v. Cordova, 157 F.3d 587, 597-98 (8th Cir. 1998); United States v. 

Edwards, 994 F.2d 417, 422 (8th Cir. 1993) (holding that the “in furtherance of” 

requirement should be interpreted broadly and is met if the overall effect of the 

conversation is to facilitate the conspiracy).   

The admissibility of an alleged co-conspirator’s statement is a preliminary 

question for the Court.  Bell, 573 F.2d at 1044.  The Court, in making a preliminary 

factual determination under this rule, may examine the hearsay statements sought to be 

admitted, and not merely independent evidence of the conspiracy.  Bourjaily v. United 

States, 483 U.S. 171, 181 (1987); United States v. Womack, 191 F.3d 879, 884 n.2 (8th 
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Cir. 1999) (stating that “[t]he requirement of independent evidence to support the 

admission of a co-conspirator’s statement was rejected in Bourjaily”).  At the conclusion 

of all the evidence, the Court must make a determination regarding the admissibility of 

the statements.  Bell, 573 F.2d at 1044. 

2. The defendants are not permitted to introduce their own out-of-
court statements or those of their co-conspirators or agents. 
 

A defendant cannot elicit evidence of his own prior statements or those of his 

agents or co-conspirators.  Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2); United States v. Hughes, 535 F.3d 

880, 882 (8th Cir. 2008) (self-serving out-of-court statement of defendant not admissible 

as statement against interest or under residual hearsay exception).  Such statements are 

hearsay when offered by the defendant. 

3. Statements to show knowledge or explain conduct are not 
hearsay. 
 

Statements are not hearsay if they are introduced to show the effect on a listener’s 

conduct, or to establish “knowledge” on the part of a listener.  United States v. Roberts, 

676 F.2d 1185, 1187-88 (8th Cir. 1982). 

B. Examining Witnesses as to Civil Lawsuits or Investigations 

Some of the government’s witnesses have been interviewed in connection with 

investigations by the SEC.  In addition, Vennes has included on his exhibit list at least 

two exhibits consisting of lawsuits filed against, respectively, Jim Fry and an Arrowhead 

hedge fund, and Bruce Prevost, David Harrold and Palm Beach Capital Management.  It 

is improper for a witness to be asked about other investigations or civil lawsuits against 



46 
 
 

them.  With respect to a witness’ conduct, the only bases for impeachment are provided 

in Federal Rules of Evidence 608 and 609.  There is no legal basis for attacking a 

witness’ credibility based on the witness having been the subject of a lawsuit, a 

regulatory matter or a criminal matter short of a conviction. 

Aside from its lack of qualification under Rules 608 and 609, permitting comment 

on or evidence of SEC investigations or civil litigation would be confusing to the jury 

and thus should be excluded under Rule 403.  Those proceedings are governed by 

different law than the instant case.  The burden of proof is much lower – preponderance 

of the evidence instead of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  Absent a judgment, civil 

cases and regulatory inquiries are merely allegations.  Yet allowing even questioning 

about such matters would unfairly plant in jurors’ minds the thought that the witness had 

done something illegal. 

Permitting this sort of inquiry would essentially allow the defendants to ask a 

witness whether anyone (civil litigants, the SEC, state authorities, or whoever), believes 

the witness has done anything wrong – not whether there are facts admissible under rules 

608 or 609 that would impeach the witness.  The long-standing rule in this Circuit, 

however, has been that the credibility of a witness may not be impeached by showing that 

he has been accused of, charged with, or arrested for a crime which has not culminated in 

a conviction.  See United States v. Madden, 482 F.2d 850, 852 (8th Cir. 1973); Rizzo v. 

United States, 304 F.2d 810, 831 (8th Cir. 1962).  Certainly, if criminal arrests and 

charges are not proper bases for impeachment, then civil claims and regulatory 
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investigations cannot be.  See United States v. Schellhaas, 253 F.3d 703, at *1 (5th Cir. 

2001) (holding district court in wire fraud case properly precluded cross-examination of 

government witness based on SEC investigation, stating that probative value would have 

been “marginal at best and could have resulted in distracting the jury’s attention from 

material factual matters to complicated, SEC regulatory matters”). 

Moreover, Vennes has himself moved to prohibit “any reference to civil violations 

during this criminal trial.”  (See Dkt. 110, Omnibus Motions in Limine of Frank Elroy 

Vennes, Jr. at 13.) 

C. Character Witnesses 

As a general rule, character witnesses called by the defendant may not testify 

about specific acts demonstrating a particular trait or other information acquired only be 

personal observation and interaction with the defendant; such witnesses must summarize 

the reputation or opinion of the defendant as known in the community.  Fed. R. Evid. 

405(a); Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 477 (1948).  For this reason, the 

government has previously filed a motion in limine to preclude the defendant from 

offering improper evidence of specific instances of conduct to show his good character.  

(Dkt. 121.) 

On cross-examination of a defendant’s character witness, however, the 

government may inquire into specific instances of the defendant’s past conduct relevant 

to the character trait at issue.  Fed. R. Evid. 405(a).  In particular, a defendant’s character 

witnesses may be cross-examined about their knowledge of the defendant’s past crimes, 
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wrongful acts and arrests.  Michelson, 335 U.S. at 479, 481 n.18.  The only prerequisites 

are:  (1) that there be a good faith basis that the incidents inquired about occurred, and (2) 

that the incidents are relevant to the character trait at issue.  United States v. McCollum, 

664 F.2d 56, 58 (5th Cir. 1981); United States v. Bright, 588 F.2d 504, 512 (5th Cir. 

1979); see also United States v. Monteleone, 77 F.3d 1086, 1089 (8th Cir. 1996). 

In addition, the defendant appears to intend to introduce through his character 

witnesses evidence of his religious faith.  Such evidence is irrelevant and should be 

precluded.  See Fed. R. Evid. 403, 404(a) & 610 (“Religious beliefs or opinions.  Not 

admissible to attack or support the witness’s credibility.”); see also United States v. 

Sampol, 636 F.2d 621 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (Fed. R. Evid. 610 prohibits eliciting evidence of 

religion for purpose of showing credibility). 

D. Post-Detection Mitigation 

The government anticipates that Defendant Vennes may attempt to offer evidence 

of his purported post-detection mitigation efforts, including his voluntary entry into a 

receivership after the fraud was discovered in September 2008.  The central issue for the 

jury to decide in this case is whether Vennes intended to defraud his victims prior to the 

scheme’s detection.  The self-serving actions Vennes undertook only after the fraud was 

detected are not relevant to his mindset prior to detection. 

Indeed, allowing Vennes to call witnesses to testify about steps he took for the 

purported purpose of recovering investor funds would only confuse and mislead the jury.  
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Under Federal Rule of Evidence 403 and relevant Circuit authority, this Court should 

exclude such confusing and irrelevant evidence. 

The Eighth Circuit and other courts of appeals have held that a defendant’s 

conduct in attempting to help or to repay fraud victims after the detection of the 

fraudulent scheme is not relevant to whether that defendant intended to defraud those 

victims in the first place.  See, e.g., United States v. Ness, 655 F.2d 248, 251 (8th Cir. 

1981) (fraud schemes end when funds are misapplied; “[w]hat might have later happened 

as to repayment is not material and could not be a defense”); United States v. Mack, 455 

Fed. App’x 323, at *2 (4th Cir. 2011) (noting in wire fraud case that “the intent to repay 

eventually is irrelevant to the question of guilt for fraud”); United States v. Bowman, 81 

Fed. App’x 104, 106 (9th Cir. 2003) (district court properly excluded evidence that Ponzi 

schemer took steps that made repayment of victims more likely because “his intent to 

repay fraudulently obtained loans is not a defense to mail fraud”); United States v. Hollis, 

971 F.2d 1441, 1452 (10th Cir. 1992) (noting in bank fraud case that “if a defendant 

knowingly provided materially false information in order to induce the loan, the crime is 

complete, and it is irrelevant whether or not he intended to repay or was capable of 

repaying it”). 

In this case, allowing Vennes to call witnesses to testify about his purported post-

detection mitigation efforts, including his entry into a voluntary receivership, would only 

invite the jury to focus upon self-serving, post-fraud conduct by Vennes unrelated to any 

element the government is required to prove to sustain a fraud conviction.  Cf. United 
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States v. Ellefsen, 655 F.3d 769, 778 (8th Cir. 2011) (“there is no doubt that self-serving 

exculpatory acts performed substantially after a defendant’s wrongdoing is discovered are 

of minimal probative value as to his state of mind at the time of the alleged crime”). 

Further, allowing Vennes to introduce evidence of his post-detection conduct 

would greatly prolong the trial.  The government would be forced to put on what could be 

a lengthy rebuttal case to prove that Vennes’s post-fraud activities were, indeed, 

undertaken for self-serving reasons and not out of genuine concern for the victims.  But 

there would be no need for such a lengthy rebuttal case if Vennes is prevented from 

presenting irrelevant and confusing evidence concerning the steps he took after the fraud 

was detected.  Such evidence should be excluded as not probative of a material fact and 

should also be excluded on Rule 403 grounds. 

E. Summary Testimony and Charts 

The United States intends to call law enforcement agents to testify as summary 

witnesses in its case-in-chief.  “The testimony of a summary witness may be received so 

long as she bases her summary on evidence received in the case and is available for 

cross-examination.”  Ellefsen, 655 F.3d at 780 (permitting IRS Revenue Agent to testify 

as summary witness that management fees at issue in tax evasion case constituted 

constructive dividends). 

In addition, because this case involves voluminous documentary evidence, 

including bank records and other financial documents, the government intends to offer 

several summary charts into evidence in order to assist the jury.  Summary charts 
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properly admitted when (1) the charts fairly summarize voluminous trial evidence, (2) 

they assist the jury in understanding testimony already introduced, and (3) the witness 

who prepared the charts is subject to cross-examination with all documents used to 

prepare the summary.  United States v. Spires, 628 F.3d 1049, 1052-53 (8th Cir. 2011) 

(citing Fed. R. Evid. 1006); see also United States v. Boesen, 541 F.3d 838, 848 (8th Cir. 

2008) (holding charts summarizing clinic’s revenue stream were properly admitted into 

evidence in health care fraud trial).  “Also, summaries may include assumptions and 

conclusions so long as they are ‘based upon evidence in the record.’”  Spires, 628 F.3d at 

1053. 

F. Refreshing Recollection and Past Recollection Recorded 

A witness may not remember details of events that occurred.  Witnesses 

experiencing difficulty with recall may have their recollection refreshed by any material; 

however, such materials are not themselves admitted into evidence.  Fed. R. Evid. 612. 

Additionally, a memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness 

once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify 

fully and accurately, shown to have been made by the witness when the matter was fresh 

in the witness’s memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly, is admissible as an  
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exception to the hearsay rule.  Fed. R. Evid. 803(5).  Such a record may be read into 

evidence but may not itself be received into evidence.  Id. 
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